STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Deborah B. Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 15-ALC-15-0009-AP
Appellate Case No. 2015-000689

Thomas Lowery, #083240,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services,

Respondent.

AMENDED APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

Thomas Lowery, #083240
HD235/KER.CI
4848 Goldmine Hwy.
Kershaw, SC 29067

pro se

Tommy Evans, Jr.,
Assistant General Counsel
SCDPPPS
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, SC 29250

Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER PAROLE BOARD FAR REACHING POWERS ABROGATES THE FAIRNESS DUE TO POTENTIAL ELGIBLE CANDIDATES ENDEAVORING TO OBTAIN A CHANCE AT SOCIETAL RE-ENTRY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to the appeal of Thomas Lowery the Appellant, and individual incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections since 1976, (39 years). On January 15, 2015, the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (department) notified Appellant that the South Carolina Parole Board (Board) had rejected his request for parole consideration. Appellant challenges the Board's denial of his request for parole consideration on the grounds that findings of fact in the Board's decision are not supported by the evidence, and criteria used in the Board's proceedings in reaching its decision, specifically Form 1212, items 1;2;3;5;7;8; and 15, is not clear.

ARGUMENT

THE PAROLE BOARD FAR REACHING POWERS DOES ABROGATES THE FAIRNESS DUE TO POTENTIAL ELIGIBLE CANDIDATES ENDEAVORING TO OBTAIN A CHANCE AT SOCIETAL RE-ENTRY.

The Order of Dismissal by the Administrative Law Court? This Court in its final decision clearly emphasize its limited jurisdictional authority to review what is assessed as a "routine denial" and refers to S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(D), (Supp. 2014) to remedy an ongoing capricious act by the Parole Board, whose far reaching powers abrogates the fairness due to potential eligible candidates endeavoring to obtain a chance at societal re-entry.

Respecting the Court's position, Appellant points this present Court's attention to the far-reaching abrogating powers of SCDPPPS Form 1212 contents. Particularly item "15" other factors considered relevant in a particular case by the Board.

Mine is a particular case associated with race and political clot that's absent the clarity to see remorse and find closure. Appellant "emphasize" that he pled guilty with the understanding that he could possibly parole after ten (10) years; however, 40 years have nearly passed and the same plight exist and my adjustment and conduct over the last thirty (30) years is given no consideration that apart of criteria items used to keep me in these sundry confines. The nature and seriousness of current offense is unchangeable, but used arbitrary to abridged my potential chance at parole. Through my labor to do better and obtain resources for a societal return, I have contributed abundantly to the State Victim Witness fund, who don't know me but use my contribution to keep me in manacles.

In this particular case, although a shaddow of Ferrell v. SCDPPPS, The Cooper decision best states arbitrary and capricious decisions associated with Form 1212. The twenty (20) plus times before the Board rendered a similar disposition. If a re-bearing was given absent political influence, feeling and emotions associated with race, Appellant's conduct, work ethics, overall adjustment and available resources in the free world could balance the scale tilted forces other than the Form 1212 Criteria.

Appellant move this Court to use its prudence to void the ambiguities of Form 1212, and decide a fair resolve to a far-reaching unfair practices lawfully

given the SCDPPPS.

CONCLUSION

Appellant move this Court to use its prudence to void the ambiguities of Form 1212, and decide a fair resolve to a far-reaching unfair practices lawfully given to SCDPPPS (emphasis).