STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court  
Deborah Durden, Administrative Law Court Judge  
15-ALC-15-0009  
Appellate Case No.: 2015-000689

---

THOMAS LOWERY, .....APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE  
AND PARDON SERVICES, .....RESPONDENT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT**

---

**Tommy Evans, Jr.**  
**Assistant General Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 50666  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Whether Parole Board far reaching powers abrogates the fairness due to potential**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 1976, the Appellant along with his co-defendant Marion Geddis entered Truluck's store in Lynchburg, South Carolina. Upon entering, the Appellant struck the victim in the head several times with a Coca-Cola bottle. After she fell she again was struck several times with a pecan branch by the co-defendant. As she lie on the floor dying, the Appellant opened the cash register and stole three hundred and sixty-nine dollars. The defendant's immediately fled the store, and ran through the woods where they left the murder weapons. The murder weapons were never recovered. The murder weapons were never recovered.

During the investigation Mr. Geddis became a suspect and upon the lawful search of his residence the stolen money was found. The Appellant's bloody fingerprints was found on this money. The Appellant was arrested, and blood matching the victim was found on his shirt. During a lawful interrogation, both defendants confessed to this crime. They were charged with the offenses of murder and grand larceny.

On September 8, 1976, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable Paul M. Moore for these offenses. Upon the conclusion of this appearance, Judge Moore sentenced the Appellant to a period of incarceration for the remainder of his natural life for murder, and ten years for grand larceny.<sup>1</sup> At the time the Appellant committed this offense, South Carolina law allowed an individual serving a life sentence for murder parole eligibility upon the service of ten years. The Appellant made his initial appearance before the Board on October 30, 1985.<sup>2</sup> Upon the conclusion of this hearing, the Board decided to deny the Appellant an opportunity to be released on parole. Since this initial hearing, the Appellant has appeared before the Board an additional fifteen times each resulting in a denial of parole. His last appearance occurred on January 14, 2015, parole was

---

<sup>1</sup> Marion Geddis received the identical sentence he currently remains incarcerated.

<sup>2</sup> The Appellant completed his sentence for grand larceny on February 23, 1982.

denied due to: 1) nature and seriousness of the current offense; and, 2) an indication of violence in this or a previous offense. (R.p.1). Upon being notified of this denial of the parole the Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court. Within this appeal the Appellant argues that his parole was denied unlawfully and Department criteria considered by the Board is far reaching, therefore, the Department criteria is unlawful.

On March 3, 2015, the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge, sua sponte issued an order dismissing the Appellant's appeal, and affirming the decision of the Parole Board. Upon receiving this order, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals. In response, the Respondent argues that the Board followed the mandates proscribed in the Cooper opinion; and, the Appellant wishes the Court determine questions of fact which can only be determined by the Parole Board. The final brief of the Respondent supporting their arguments follows.

### ARGUMENTS

**1. The Respondent followed the mandates proscribed by the South Carolina Supreme Court revealed in the *Cooper* opinion.**

The ALC correctly decided that the notice of rejection revealed the board considered the fifteen factors and §24-21-640, which is considered a routine denial of parole. When the ALC made this determination no relief should be given to the Appellant. This determination was made pursuant to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008).

Pursuant to South Carolina law, a final decision of an agency shall include a findings of fact and conclusions of law separately stated. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-350(Supp. 2013). In *Cooper*, the Supreme Court decided that a finding of fact was included; however, the Court determined that the Parole Board neither, "offered an explanation nor indicated that it considered the-statutory

criteria of section 24-21-640 and the fifteen criteria listed on the parole form.” *Id.*, at 500. The Supreme Court decided that if the Parole Board fails to consider and apply the statutory-related criteria, it has the effect of rendering an inmate parole ineligible, which warrants review by the ALC. *Id.*, at 502.

In *Cooper*, the Court established what future Parole Board orders should consist of, in *Cooper* it specifically states:

We emphasize that in future parole review hearings the Parole Board may avoid the result in the instant case if it clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form. If the Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.

*Id.*

In the case at bar, the order of denial did conform with the *Cooper* opinion. The findings of fact were the reasons provided as to why parole was denied; and, the conclusion of law are the statutes and factors used to determine the denial of parole. The order is clear, the criteria within the statute and the mandatory policy were considered prior to the denial of parole.

In *Cooper*, the court determined that the order denying parole was unlawful due to it not presenting any conclusions of law. It was the opinion of the Supreme Court that in order for the Board to prove that proper procedures were followed, it must not only state the findings of fact, but the statute and policy considered in reaching this conclusion. The order delivered to the Appellant is clear, the criteria within the statute and the mandatory policy were considered prior to the denial of parole. According to the Supreme Court, if this is shown no further review by the

ALC is necessary.<sup>3</sup> The ALC ruled that pursuant to *Cooper*, the Board revealed a findings of fact and conclusion of law separately stated. Since the Court have given the ALC a narrow ability to review the decisions of the Board, their decision to affirm the denial of parole was valid and should be upheld.

**2. The criteria established by the General Assembly and the Department is sufficient to make a parole determination, and not in violation of the law.**

The Appellant argues that the criteria used by the Board is unlawfully broad. The Board must consider the mandatory criteria established by the General Assembly and criteria created by the Department. (R.p.2). The criteria the Board must consider is found in the South Carolina Code of Laws, which specifically state:

The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board; that, the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that, in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited the lessening of the rigors of imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640(Supp. 2013).

Pursuant to South Carolina law, “the board must establish written specific criteria for the granting of parole and provisional parole. This criteria must reflect all of the aspects of this section and include a review of a prisoner’s disciplinary and other records.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2013). The Appellant argues this criteria is far reaching, thereby illegal. The Respondent argues that the Department criteria encompasses all of the above referenced criteria found in the statute.

Department criteria specifically states:

1. The risk the inmate poses to the community;

---

<sup>3</sup> The Parole Board clearly stated in its notice of rejection that it considered the statutory criteria and the criteria set forth in Form 1212 which is sufficient under *Cooper. Compton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 385 S.C. 476, 685 S.E.2d 175 (2009).

2. The nature and seriousness of the inmate's offense, the circumstances surrounding the offense, and the inmate's attitude toward it;
3. The inmate's prior criminal records and his/her adjustment under any previous programs or supervision;
4. The inmate's attitude toward his/her family, the victim, and authority in general;
5. The inmate's adjustment while in confinement including his/her progress in counseling, therapy, and other similar programs designed to encourage the inmate to improve himself/herself;
6. The inmate employment history, including his/her job training and skills and his/her stability in the work place;
7. The inmate's physical, mental and emotional health;
8. The inmate's understanding of the cause of his/her past criminal conduct;
9. The inmate's efforts to solve his/her problems, such as seeking treatment for substance abuse, enrolling in academic and vocational education courses, and in general using whatever resources the Department of Corrections has made available to inmates to help with their problems;
10. The adequacy of the inmate's overall parole plan. This includes inmates living arrangements, where he /she will live and who he will live with; the character of those with whom the inmate plans to associate in both his/her working hours and his/her off work hours; the inmate's plans for gainful employment;
11. The willingness of the community into which the inmate will be released to receive the inmate;
12. The willingness of the inmate's family to allow him/her to return to the family circle;
13. The attitudes of the sentencing judge, the solicitor, and local law enforcement officers respecting the inmate's parole;

14. The feelings of the victim's family, and any witnesses to the crime about the release of the inmate;
15. Other factors considered relevant in a particular case by the Board.

The Appellant argues that the Department criteria is unfair especially number fifteen. Each of this criteria encompasses all of the mandatory criteria created by the General Assembly. There exist no violation of the law when the Board considers these criteria.

The Appellant was denied parole due to the nature and seriousness of the offense of murder; and the indication and violence of this offense. These reasons follow the criteria allowed in South Carolina law and found in Department policy, there exist no decision made arbitrarily or capriciously. Within his brief the Appellant attempts to prove his position with factual examples as to why he should be granted parole. The Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of an agency as to weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(6)(Supp. 2014). The Appellant questions the reasons why he was denied parole. However, the reasons offered by the Court followed the criteria; therefore, it is was not subject to remand by the ALC. The ALC was correct in affirming the decision of the Board, and dismissing the Appellant's appeal. Pursuant to South Carolina law the ALC cannot reverse the decision of the Parole Board.<sup>4</sup> The decision of the ALC was lawful and followed South Carolina law.

Within his brief the Appellant also made claims of his being denied parole due to his race. The Board has never used race as a factor in the denial of a prisoners parole. There are individuals of all races, nationalities, and religions that have been denied or granted parole. The Board only considers the mandatory criteria found in statute, and a part of Department policy. The Appellant

---

<sup>4</sup> An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections for an appeal involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(Supp. 2014).

has presented no proof to the ALC that race was used as a factor in the denial of his parole. In administrative proceedings the general rule is that an Appellant for relief, or a privilege has the burden of proof, and the burden of proof test upon one who filed the claim with an administrative agency to establish that required conditions of eligibility have been met. *Leventis v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 530 S.E.2d 643 (2000). The reasons for denial were valid and never mentioned the race of the Appellant. The Appellant has also offered no proof that his being denied parole was based on race. The ALC was correct in not even addressing this accusation.

The Appellant argues that number fifteen of the Department created criteria, reveals the far reaching abrogating powers of the Department. The Appellant was not denied parole due to this specific criteria. He was denied parole due to the violence and serious nature of the offense he committed. The nature and seriousness of his offense is relevant and must be considered not only for this Appellant, but any inmate appearing before the Parole Board. The above referenced statutory criteria specifically states that the Board must consider the record of the prisoner, “before, after and during imprisonment.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2014). The Board must not only consider the programs, employment, and disciplinaries occurring during imprisonment, but the prior record and offense committed by the Appellant.